

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



FCND DISCUSSION PAPER NO. 175

CONSUMPTION SMOOTHING AND VULNERABILITY IN THE ZONE LACUSTRE, MALI

Sarah Harrower and John Hoddinott

Food Consumption and Nutrition Division

International Food Policy Research Institute 2033 K Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 U.S.A. (202) 862–5600 Fax: (202) 467–4439

March 2004

Copyright © 2004 International Food Policy Research Institute

FCND Discussion Papers contain preliminary material and research results, and are circulated prior to a full peer review in order to stimulate discussion and critical comment. It is expected that most Discussion Papers will eventually be published in some other form, and that their content may also be revised.

Abstract

This paper explores risk sharing in the Zone Lacustre, Mali, as viewed through the lens of consumption smoothing. We find that idiosyncratic shocks appear to have little impact on consumption, and that households respond to these shocks in a variety of ways. In general, nonpoor households are more likely to enter into new incomegenerating activities while poor households are more likely to engage in credit or gift exchange or to ration consumption. When we construct a stronger test for consumption smoothing, we find that changes in household income lead to modest changes in consumption. Covariant shocks, as measured by village/round dummies, always lead to changes in consumption. These results are robust to concerns regarding bias resulting from measurement error or endogeneity of changes in income. Lastly, we find that households with access to improved water control infrastructure are less vulnerable than those that rely on rainfall or the flooding of the Niger River.

Contents

Acknowledgments	v
1. Introduction	1
2. Mali's Zone Lacustre	2
The Survey Area	
3. Testing for Consumption Smoothing	8
Overview	8
Basic Findings1	0
Income Risk and Household Coping Mechanisms 1	3
Further Tests of Consumption Smoothing1	9
Partial Consumption Insurance	20
Bias Concerns	21
Household Vulnerability by Socioeconomic Characteristic	24
4. Conclusions	25
References	28

Tables

1	Means and standard deviations of household characteristics	6
2	Mean and median per capita consumption, by survey round	7
3	Household income diversification: Percentage of households reporting noncrop incomes	8
4	Least squares determinants of change in total per capita consumption	. 12
5	Household fixed effects logit estimates of household coping responses to idiosyncratic shocks	. 15
6	Household fixed effects logit estimates of household income and consumption responses to idiosyncratic shocks	. 17

7	The impact of changes in log household per capita income on log household per capita consumption	20
8	Impact of change in log per capita income on change in log per capita consumption, controlling for change in mean log village income	22
9	Two-stage least squares estimates of the impact of changes in log household per capita income on log household per capita consumption	23
10	The effect of idiosyncratic income shocks on consumption, by household characteristics	26

Acknowledgments

We thank Robert Holzmann for encouraging us to pursue the ideas discussed here and Stefan Dercon, Lant Pritchett, Agnes Quisumbing, Emmanuel Skoufias, and Emil Tesliuc for helpful comments on earlier drafts. Funding for the analysis reported here was provided by the World Bank. Funding for data collection and initial analysis of these data was provided by the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) (TA Grant No. 301-IFPRI) and the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) (Grant No. 688-C-00-98-00151-00). We gratefully acknowledge this support, but stress that all ideas and opinions presented here are our responsibility and should not be attributed to IFAD, USAID, or the World Bank. It is our pleasure to acknowledge Luc Christiaensen for his excellent work in supervising the collection of the data used here. Work for this paper began when both authors were at the Department of Economics, Dalhousie University. Errors are ours.

Sarah Harrower The University of British Columbia

John Hoddinott International Food Policy Research Institute

Key words: consumption smoothing, shocks, vulnerability, Mali

1. Introduction

Many people in developing countries are vulnerable to shocks that lead to reductions in well-being (World Bank 2000). The shocks may be idiosyncratic (affecting individuals or households) or covariant (affecting groups of households or communities, regions, or nations). Understanding the nature of this vulnerability and the informal or formal coping mechanisms that may mitigate shocks is a first step in establishing effective social protection programs.

This paper explores vulnerability issues through the lens of consumption smoothing. It asks which groups or individuals are unable to fully insure—or smooth their consumption in the face of shocks to their income. Drawing on data from the Zone Lacustre in northern Mali, we show that in all cases, covariant shocks lead to changes in consumption. When we examine specific idiosyncratic shocks, we find that these appear to be fully insured against. We also consider a stronger test for consumption smoothing, namely the impact of changes in total household income on consumption with controls for idiosyncratic shocks. Here, however, the hypothesis of complete insurance is rejected.

We also explore vulnerability issues by disaggregating the sample along a number of characteristics. In a semiarid country such as Mali, which is heavily reliant on agriculture, one would expect that control over water would emerge as a key correlate of vulnerability. In the Zone Lacustre, this is indeed the case. Households with access to improved water-control infrastructure experience less variability in consumption than those that rely on rainfall or the flooding of the Niger River. Households whose occupational base is livestock or fishing, and those of ethnic minorities, appear to be more vulnerable, especially across food consumption.

2. Mali's Zone Lacustre

Mali is a landlocked country of approximately 12 million people in West Africa. Its 1.2 million square kilometers include three climatic zones: the semi-humid and dry savannah zones in the south, and the Sahara Desert in the north. One area of Mali judged to be particularly susceptible to income shocks is the Zone Lacustre. Situated in the remote northern region of the Niger River valley, it is characterized by subsistence agriculture. The area has suffered from deteriorating climatic conditions, poor infrastructure, and some of the poorest health and education attainments in the country. Our results are based on a four-round household survey conducted in 10 villages in this area.¹

The Survey Area

The 10 villages in the survey area are centered around the small town of Niafunké located on the north bank of the Niger River. This area covers a roughly 90-by-30-kilometer stretch of the river and comprises low-lying areas, ponds, and lakes that are flooded by the Niger during rainy seasons. The area is 185 kilometers southeast of Tombouctou, the administrative and closest urban center, and it has two local market centers, Niafunké and Tonka, both on the Niger's banks, with populations of roughly 7,000 each.

The survey area is located within the Sahelian climatic zone and suffers from variable and increasingly limited rainfall levels. This trend toward aridity has been worsening over the past 20 years. The average rainfall over the period 1992–96 was 234 millimeters, down from the 1940–50 average of 276 millimeters. In 1997, the first year of our survey, there was only 172 millimeters of rain. The rise and fall of the Niger also affects the agricultural potential of the area, as rising waters flood areas for rice and millet cultivation. This irrigation mechanism has also been deteriorating in recent

¹ Luc Christiaensen, now at the World Bank, led the survey work, supported by John Hoddinott. A full description of the survey and survey area is found in Christiaensen (1999).

decades as river levels have lowered. River levels depend on the rains in the distant Guinean mountains, not local rainfall.

The rural areas surveyed are isolated and poorly accessible. Travel to and from the areas depends on watercraft in the rainy seasons and four-wheel drive in the hot dry seasons. Travel is always slow and costly, virtually isolating the area from surrounding markets. Travel is undertaken largely on foot or by donkey over paved or dirt roads, and by prau over the flooded waterways. The villages are, on average, 15 kilometers from the closest market center.

The population in the survey area was estimated in 1996 at 94,000. An overall population density of 29 inhabitants per square kilometer understates true density, as inhabitants are concentrated on arable lands. Population growth, despite high birth rates, is negligible due to high infant mortality and significant out-migration. While the out-migration has been found to follow the agricultural growing cycle, the worsening climatic conditions of the area have been exacerbating the phenomenon, and many men and families are leaving for longer periods or even permanently.

Education and health standards are below national levels. Illiteracy rates within the region remain at 70 percent for men and 90 percent for women, with only 60 percent of individuals experiencing some form of formal schooling. Fewer than 15 percent complete primary school. The area has benefited from efforts to install cleaner water supplies. Ninety percent of households use water from a well, but overall sanitation is poor.

The ethnic composition of the area is diverse: the majority Sonrhai account for 62 percent of the survey's households; Bambara accounts for 10 percent; Tamasheq, 4 percent; Peuhl, 23 percent; and Bozo, 1 percent. These groups traditionally engage in different economic activities. The Sonrhai and Bambara are traditionally agriculturalists; the Tamasheq and Peuhl, transhumant pastoralists; and the Bozo, migratory fishermen. These groups used to be organized along hierarchical lines; some were nobility, others slaves and various castes. Traditional social hierarchies exist in the area and affect the access to resources of some minority groups.

Villages take the form of nucleated settlements. Within villages, individuals live in dwellings or huts grouped together in a compound surrounded by a wall. One further distinguishes families that consist of several households linked by kinship. Following local practice, households were defined as consumption units or a collection of individuals eating from a common pot. These individuals recognized a common authority, the household head, and shared their incomes. Although household members usually lived together in the same dwelling or hut, this was not always the case. For example, it was not uncommon for brothers to live together—with their wives and children in separate dwellings within the same compound—while still sharing their meals and having their father as household head. These individuals constituted one household. Households typically consisted of parents and their children, and sometimes grandparents, brothers or sisters, and adopted children. Following local practice, polygamous households were counted as separate if each constituted a separate consumption unit and if the different women did not share their income and lived in separate dwellings.

The villages surveyed were within a one-hour driving distance of Niafunké. Two (Tomi and Ouaki) were located directly on the Niger River; three (Tomba, Aldianabangou, and Hamakoira), on the Dangha (a pond with water control infrastructure); three (N'goro, Mangourou, and Gouati), on the Koboro pond (which does not have infrastructure); and two (Anguira and Goundam Touskel) that rely largely on rainfall. These villages contain populations from each main ethnic group. Within these villages, there were three types of agriculture systems: rainfed, water recession, and irrigated. The trade-offs between the three types are yield uncertainty and the amounts of labor and investment required. To help reduce variable crop yields, the area has increasingly been the focus of development agency irrigation infrastructure projects. Millet, sorghum, and rice are the main crops.

The Survey

The first survey was fielded in August–September 1997, just prior to the harvest. This was followed by a second round during the postharvest period (November– December 1997); a third, in the quiet period between agricultural seasons (February– March 1998); and the fourth, during a second hungry period (August–September 1998). The need to include in the sample a variety of agricultural systems, together with the physical difficulties associated with moving within the area, dictated the sampling strategy chosen. A two-stage sampling procedure was used: (1) the purposive selection of 10 villages and (2) random selection of one-third of the households within each village, yielding a sample of 275 households.² These household survey data were supplemented by additional anthropometric surveys, participatory rural appraisal (PRA) work, and weekly market surveys.

Women and men within households were interviewed separately. The survey contained questions on household size and composition, agricultural production, sources and levels of nonagricultural incomes, assets, consumption, anthropometry, and health. Although "shock" indices, as found, for example, in Dercon and Krishnan (2000), cannot be constructed directly from these data, information on exogenous events, such as crop loss due to insect infestation, loss of labor time due to illness, and theft of livestock, are found in the household questionnaires. Table 1 shows, along with basic descriptive data for the sample, that such shocks are common. Approximately half the sample reports that crop production was affected by insect infestations, and labor time was lost as a result of illness. About a quarter of households report loss of livestock due to theft or death, or, for a variety of reasons, the inability to cultivate all land available. Households are not especially large by West African standards. Table 1 shows that mean and median values hover between 5 and 6, although the largest household exceeds 20 members. There is some reduction in household size over the sample, with the exception of the final survey round, when migrants returned to assist with the new harvest season. Also found is a

² The construction of the sample is described in Christiaensen, Hoddinott, and Bergeron (2001).

temporary attrition of whole households following the poor harvest in 1997. This was followed by their return in time to plant for the 1998 harvest.

		Villages					
	Whole sample	With access to riverside irrigation: Tomi and Ouaki	On ponds with flooding control: Aldianabangou, Tomba, and Hamakoira	With access to ponds but no flooding control: Mangourou, Gouati, and N'goro	Reliant on rainfed agriculture: Goundam Touskel and Anguira		
Household characteristics							
Age of household head	52.43	50.28	54.93	51.60	53.60		
Household size, Round 1	(14.19) 5.82 (3.60)	5.75	6.35	5.48	5.81		
Changes in household size between	(0.000)						
rounds	-0.13 (1.34)	-0.04	-0.27	-0.08	-0.07		
Female-headed	0.09 (0.29)	0.05	0.11	0.09	0.11		
Asset nonpoor	0.40 (0.49)	0.57	0.20	0.36	0.57		
Asset poor	0.60 (0.49)	0.42	0.79	0.63	0.42		
Belongs to ethnic majority (Sonrhai)	0.61 (0.48)	0.62	0.90	0.51	0.28		
Principal occupation self-defined as	(0000)						
agriculture	0.67 (0.46)	0.68	0.70	0.70	0.52		
Income shocks to household							
Value of livestock deaths	13,052.13 (48,026.4)	10,537.94	7,977.34	17,138.87	16,737.09		
Crops affected by insect infestation	0.45 (0.49)	0.37	0.53	0.45	0.45		
Lost productive time due to illness	0.49 (0.50)	0.53	0.52	0.44	0.46		
Lost livestock to theft or death	0.47 (0.44)	0.18	0.26	0.35	0.27		
Debt, net sales, and transfers	(····)						
Net debt (credit-loans)	1,751.089 (41,272.86)	3,920.898	-4,766.779	6,492.298	-1,394.205		
Net livestock sales (sale-purchase)	8,874.124 (38,520.31)	7,446.615	19,262.37	4,210.438	8,916.239		
Remittances received	23,667.01 (64,918.82)	14,763.43	33,227.00	23,606.18	19,606.54		
Number of households	275	64	74	99	38		
(Number of observations)	(1,101)	(256)	(297)	(396)	(152)		

Table 1—Means and standard deviations of household characteristics

Notes: Values in parentheses are standard deviations except for education, where the figure refers to the number of households with any schooling.

Considerable detail on the construction of income and consumption aggregates is found in Christiaensen (1999). Consumption consists of food expenditures (both purchased and the value of consumption of gifts and own production), nonfood expenditures, and gifts. Income is the sum of wage employment, net income from agriculture, net earnings from self-employment, and migrants' remittances and gifts. As Table 2 shows, incomes in the area are low, with median consumption hovering around US\$16 or CFA³ 9.627 per person per month. The mean figure of \$19.30 per person per month is broadly consistent with national income accounts data that give a figure of annual GNP per capita of \$240. Other data in the survey are consistent with these low magnitudes. For example, average asset values (tools and livestock) were approximately \$100 per person in August 1997, with men holding 70 percent of household assets. Apparent in Table 2 is a slight decrease, rather than an increase, following the poor harvest in October-November 1997. Also, there is clear evidence that households try to protect food consumption across seasons. Median food consumption varies by less than 5 percent across seasons. By contrast, nonfood consumption is considerably more volatile. Reported incomes (Christiaensen 1999) follow a similar seasonal pattern.

	0	September 997		mber- ber 1997		y-March 98	0	eptember 98
	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median
Per capita consumption, food and nonfood	11,243	9,672	10,265	8,504	10,524	9,030	10,019	9,362
Per capita food consumption	8,575 (76.3)	7,336	8,497 (82.8)	7,297	8,204 (78.0)	7,361	7,965 (79.5)	7,568
Per capita nonfood consumption	2,366 (21.0)	1,556	1,420 (13.8)	759	1,841 (17.5)	847	1,599 (16.0)	1,008
Per capita gifts received	303 (2.7)	107	347 (3.4)	1	478 (4.5)	12	454 (4.5)	208

Table 2—Mean	and median pe	r capita consum	ption, b	y survey	/ round

Notes: All figures are monthly per capita amounts in CFA francs. Percentages of total consumption are denoted in parentheses. August-September 1997 and 1998 are hungry periods just prior to harvest. November-December 1997 is the postharvest period. February-March 1998 is the quiet agricultural period between postharvest and hungry period.

Although most (70 percent) households report their principal occupation as agriculturalists, sources of income are diverse. Table 3 enumerates the percentage of

³ Francs issued by the African Financial Community (Communauté Financière Africaine).

households reporting income from sources other than crops. These activities are concentrated in service and artisanal activities and vary by season. Also important at various times are transfers in the form of food and nonfood goods.

	August- September 1997	November- December 1997	February- March 1998	August- September 1998		
	(percent)					
Agricultural labor	5.1	7.3	4.7	2.2		
Livestock	9.5	3.6	1.1	1.5		
Fishing	2.9	1.5	1.8	0.0		
Artisan	80.4	63.4	55.9	70.6		
Petty trade	30.2	11.2	6.1	10.9		
Nonagricultural labor	9.8	4.7	5.4	4.7		
Services	48.7	35.9	10.1	36.0		
Forestry	1.5	0.36	1.8	3.3		
Food gifts from family, friends	16.6	12.7	11.6	19.3		
Nonfood gifts from family, friends	15.3	24.6	19.1	37.1		

Table 3—Household income diversification: Percentage of households reporting noncrop incomes

Notes: Activities used by a negligible percentage of households were state employment, interest on loans, brick making, inheritance, collective funds, wild foods, *bourgou*, rent of equipment, rent of house, and income from pensions.

3. Testing for Consumption Smoothing

Overview

Tests of consumption smoothing arise from the assumption that households attempt to spread the consumption of their lifetime earnings evenly across time, through the use of mechanisms that reduce or mitigate income shocks, or those that help them cope with the effects of such shocks. How much of lifetime income households choose to consume today relative to tomorrow is determined by individual preference, but the important point is that their income today bears only on today's consumption level through its contribution to permanent income. Temporary shocks to income today, in situations where there are insufficient smoothing mechanisms, should not affect current levels of consumption (Townsend 1995).

Although developing economies have largely been characterized as having incomplete or absent markets for most goods and services, it has been found that this is

not the case with consumption smoothing mechanisms (Townsend 1995). Indeed, households in these areas have created a variety of informal mechanisms to help them reduce, mitigate, or cope with the risks they continually face (Morduch 1999; World Bank 2000). Two factors differentially affect a given household's ability to smooth consumption and mitigate vulnerability. The types of risks experienced and the types of smoothing mechanisms (or, more accurately, their accessibility within the community overall) affect the degree of consumption smoothing that can be achieved.

Consumption smoothing mechanisms insure consumption levels against shocks to income. But, as with all insurance, the condition of the insurance group vis-à-vis the shocks experienced determines the extent to which the shock can be smoothed or insured against (Townsend 1995). If the shock is common across group members, then it is covariate and cannot be insured or smoothed out by those within the group. If everyone within the insurance group experiences a negative shock, the welfare of the group as a whole will diminish, because no one household experienced gains that could be shared. Idiosyncratic (individually experienced) shocks such as illness or death can be smoothed, however, through mechanisms that allow households to rely on others to share the repercussions of such shocks. Therefore, the breadth of the insurance group one can draw on to insure and smooth consumption, and the type of shock experienced, affect the extent to which consumption can be smoothed.

The extent of consumption smoothing achieved within a community can be tested by regressing changes in individual household income against changes in individual consumption, while controlling for the effects of covariate shocks. In situations of perfect consumption smoothing, the coefficient on changes in income will be zero (Morduch 1999). One can also examine the relative effect specific income shocks have on consumption within an area by testing what effect their occurrence has on consumption (Skoufias 2002). Using these methods, one can explore the implications specific shocks have on consumption and the extent to which households can smooth consumption and mitigate their vulnerability.

A second factor that affects a household's ability to smooth consumption is its characteristics and whether they allow for access to the mechanisms available within a community or insurance group. While, on aggregate, a community may have developed sufficient mechanisms and be effectively smoothing consumption, there may be segments of the community excluded from participating, and they may therefore be vulnerable. Exploring differences in household characteristics and characteristics of the particular coping mechanisms employed helps reveal the true extent of consumption smoothing of a region. Discovering who is the most vulnerable within a community by examining the abilities of groups to smooth their consumption relative to each other could help governments and donors ensure that adequate coverage within the community occurs.

Accordingly, we present our empirical results in four stages. We first explore whether households can insure against specific idiosyncratic shocks such as livestock loss or illness. We then explore how households protect consumption against these shocks by examining the coping mechanisms they employ. We then examine whether all idiosyncratic shocks, as represented by changes in total incomes, affect consumption. Finally, after consideration of some econometric issues, we explore which groups are relatively more vulnerable—in a consumption smoothing sense—as a result of changes in income.

Basic Findings

To determine whether consumption is affected by specific idiosyncratic shocks, we estimated the following model:

$$\Delta \ln c_{htv} = \Sigma \Theta_{tv} (VD_{tv} + \beta S_{htv} + \lambda X_{htv} + \Delta e_{htv}, \tag{1}$$

where $\Delta \ln c_{htv}$ denotes changes in log per capita consumption as defined in Section 4; VD_{tv} is a vector of village dummies interacted by survey round to capture all common shocks at the village level; S_{htv} is a set of dummy variables indicating the occurrence of an idiosyncratic household shock; X_{htv} is a vector of time-varying household

characteristics⁴; θ_{tv} , β , and λ are parameters to be estimated; and Δe_{htv} is the household-specific error term.

Results of estimating equation (1) are reported in Table 4.⁵ We use four representations for shocks: whether crops were lost to insect infestation, whether the household was unable to cultivate all land available to it, whether livestock were lost due to theft or death, and whether at least one member of the household was unable to participate in economically productive activities because of illness.⁶ We start with a simple specification in which only these idiosyncratic shocks appear.⁷ Results are reported in column 1 of Table 4. We gradually relax this restriction by sequentially entering the representation of village common shocks (column 2) and household characteristics (columns 3 and 4).

When entered without other covariates, shocks to crops and livestock appear to have a negative effect on consumption. The incidence of crops being attacked by insects resulted in a 10 percent drop in total consumption. These results change once we control for common shocks in columns 2–4. The θ_{tv} are statistically significant, as shown by the F statistics reported by round for these village dummy variables, indicating that covariant shocks explain variations in consumption over time. That these income shocks cannot be smoothed highlights an important source of vulnerability for people living in the Zone

⁴ In addition to the covariates reported in Tables 4–6, as part of our preliminary work, we also included ethnicity, occupation, and location interacted with rank of village in terms of per capita consumption. Inclusion of these characteristics does not affect the results reported here.

⁵ Standard errors are corrected for heteroskedasticity using the methods outlined by Huber (1967) and White (1980).

⁶ In preliminary work, we experimented extensively with the specification of these idiosyncratic shock variables. Representations that we tried, but found not to have a statistically significant impact on change in log consumption, included any member of the household being inactive for at least a short duration, due to illness; primary male or female of the household inactive for at least a short duration due to illness; primary male or female of the household inactive for at least one long duration due to illness; primary male or female of the household inactive for at least one long duration due to illness; primary male or female of the household inactive for at least one long duration due to illness; primary male or female of the household inactive for at least one long duration; land not cultivated because of lack of rain, lack of flooding, shortages of labor, seeds, or capital; crops moderately or severely attacked by predators; continuous representations of land not cultivated; continuous representations of crops attacked by predators; loss of more than 10 percent of value of livestock; and continuous representation of livestock loss.

⁷ This is equivalent to imposing the restriction that θ_{tv} and λ equal zero.

Lacustre. Shocks to crops no longer have a statistically significant impact on changes in total consumption, health shocks have no statistically significant impact, and livestock shocks have a small, rather poorly measured effect.

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
	Idiosyncratic	Idiosyncratic and	
	and village	common shocks and	Household
Income	common	socioeconomic	fixed effects
shocks	shocks	characteristics	regression
-0.113**	-0.078	-0.077	-0.115
(1.99)	(1.14)	(1.09)	(1.12)
0.025	0.079	0.063	0.069
(0.48)	(1.46)	(1.22)	(0.93)
-0.076	-0.091	-0.103*	-0.097
(1.31)	(1.44)	(1.72)	(1.10)
0.085	0.002	0.005	0.008
(1.33)	(0.04)	(0.08)	(0.10)
	5.30**	2.89**	
	3.29**	3.97**	
	6.32**	5.68**	
		0.039	-
			-0.036
			(1.54)
		(2.55)	(1.5 1)
		0 460**	0.891**
			(10.56)
		. ,	-
		. ,	-
1 31	4 35**	· /	7.35**
	Income shocks -0.113** (1.99) 0.025 (0.48) -0.076 (1.31) 0.085	Idiosyncratic and village common shocks -0.113** -0.078 (1.99) (1.14) 0.025 0.079 (0.48) (1.46) -0.076 -0.091 (1.31) (1.44) 0.085 0.002 (1.33) (0.04) 5.30** 3.29** 6.32** -32**	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Idiosyncratic and common shocks and socioeconomic characteristics \\ \hline Income shocks & -0.078 & -0.077 \\ (1.99) & (1.14) & (1.09) \\ \hline 0.025 & 0.079 & 0.063 \\ (0.48) & (1.46) & (1.22) \\ -0.076 & -0.091 & -0.103* \\ (1.31) & (1.44) & (1.72) \\ 0.085 & 0.002 & 0.005 \\ (1.33) & (0.04) & (0.08) \\ \hline 5.30^{**} & 2.89^{**} \\ 3.29^{**} & 5.68^{**} \\ \hline 0.039 \\ (0.46) \\ -0.061^{**} \\ (2.93) \\ \hline 0.009 \\ (0.16) \\ \hline \end{tabular}$

Table 4—Least squares determinants of change in total per capita consumption

Notes: Dependent variable is change in log per capita consumption (food, nonfood, and value of gifts received) between rounds. Sample size is 718. * = Significant at the 10 percent level, ** = significant at the 5 percent level. Absolute value of t-statistics is in parentheses. Standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity using Huber-White method.

The key finding reported in Table 4—and bearing in mind the additional results reported in footnote 6—is that these specified idiosyncratic shocks have little significant impact on consumption in the Zone Lacustre. By contrast, covariate shocks appear to be very important in explaining fluctuations in consumption.

Income Risk and Household Coping Mechanisms

As these specific idiosyncratic income shocks appear to have little effect on consumption, we now explore the ways in which households react to these events. To do this, we estimate a model similar to that of equation (1), whereby the effect that an income shock has on the probability that a household will engage in a particular coping strategy is tested. We construct a series of binary variables signifying whether the household reported, or was shown to undertake, a particular coping strategy during that period. We estimate whether experiencing an income shock increased the likelihood that these households pursued these strategies using a fixed effects logit model of the form:

$$\Pr ob(Y_{htv} = 1) = \frac{\exp(\mu_h + \beta S_{htv} + \gamma X_{htv})}{1 - \exp(\mu_h + \beta S_{htv} + \gamma X_{htv})} .$$
⁽²⁾

This model allows for the role of household-specific, time-invariant observed and unobserved factors to be taken account of. Here the dependent variable is used to denote use of any of a variety of coping strategies related to migration, remittances, livestock sales, credit, aid from relatives or the state, income diversification, and food consumption composition changes.⁸ The term μ_h represents all household-specific, time-invariant observed and unobserved factors. S_{htv} is a vector denoting the occurrence of the four income shocks discussed above, and X_{htv} is a vector to control for household timevarying characteristics such as age and gender composition of the household, survey round, and household size. Separate fixed-effects regressions were run for each of the dependent variables. Using equation (2), households whose value of Y_{htv} did not vary across rounds were dropped from the estimation. Where a shock has no explanatory power for why the household adopted the coping strategy, we would expect β to be zero.

Table 5 shows that no single coping strategy was used by households in response to income shocks; rather, a portfolio of strategies was employed. Further, households

⁸ Strategies related to the sale of possessions were also examined with no significant results found.

coped with income shocks not only through traditionally defined coping mechanisms (such as credit and gift giving), but also by adjusting their income generation across activities and making changes in the composition of their consumption.

Table 5 reports the effect each shock has on the likelihood of a household adopting a response to an idiosyncratic shock for the full sample and for a disaggregated sample of asset-poor and asset-nonpoor households.⁹ A loss of crops due to insect infestation increases the probability that the household reports positive net debt and outmigration as a survival strategy. When examining this shock across wealth classifications, it is found that asset-poor households are more likely to receive remittances. Both groups were significantly more likely to use credit because of this shock.

Households that experience idiosyncratic income shocks related to illness are less likely to use credit. Asset-poor households are less likely to receive nonfood gifts from friends and relatives as a result of this shock.

A shock caused by loss of livestock in general increases the likelihood that households engage in credit and had household members out-migrate since the last survey. This shock also increases the likelihood of the sample as a whole to have positive net livestock sales and report food aid from friends or family. Further examination of this shock across asset-nonpoor and asset-poor households shows that only asset-poor households are more likely to have members out-migrate, use credit, and report food gifts from friends and relatives. Both asset-nonpoor and asset-poor households are more likely to use livestock sales as a means of coping as a result of this shock.

Finally, both nonpoor and poor households unable to cultivate all of their landholdings were less likely to have members who out-migrated over the last period.

⁹ Asset-poor households have livestock holdings as of August 1997 in the bottom three quintiles. Assetnonpoor households have livestock holdings in the top two quintiles.

		Incor	ne shock		
Household action	Lost crops due to insect infestation	At least one member of household lost productive time due to illness	Lost livestock due to theft or death	Land cultivated less than land available	Numbe of
Migration	Intestation	uue to mness	ueatn	available	groups
Household reports out-migration as a coping strategy	4.241** (2.15)	-1.513 (1.32)	-0.623 (0.42)	-1.133 (1.02)	19
Household had members out-migrate since the last interview	0.083	-0.037 (0.14)	0.673** (2.15)	-0.805** (2.45)	163
Asset nonpoor	-0.246 (0.39)	0.323 (0.62)	0.732 (1.33)	-1.299** (2.12)	66
Asset poor	0.117 (0.27)	-0.123 (0.35)	0.685* (1.71)	-0.765* (1.79)	97
Remittances					
Household received positive remittances since last survey	0.268 (0.70)	0.135 (0.42)	-0.332 (0.94)	0.326 (0.92)	127
Asset nonpoor	-0.676 (1.04)	-0.196 (0.30)	-0.660 (1.09)	-0.435 (0.64)	50
Asset poor	1.007* (1.90)	0.339 (0.83)	-0.538 (1.10)	0.877* (1.85)	77
Livestock sales		× /	. ,		
Household reports sale of livestock as a coping strategy since					
last survey	-0.523 (0.76)	-0.488 (0.78)	-0.794 (1.44)	0.185 (0.28)	33
Household had positive livestock sales since the last survey	0.272	-0.194 (0.73)	1.102** (3.57)	0.174 (0.55)	109
Asset nonpoor	0.260 (0.48)	-0.429 (1.06)	0.772*	-0.377 (0.77)	51
Asset poor	0.213 (0.48)	0.095 (0.25)	1.629** (3.18)	0.846* (1.77)	58
Credit					
Household had positive net debt over the last survey period	1.577** (5.76)	-0.679** (3.06)	1.128** (4.24)	-0.006 (0.03)	240
Asset nonpoor	2.380** (4.98)	-0.544 (1.43)	0.623 (1.58)	0.055 (0.14)	97
Asset poor	1.085** (2.94)	-0.852** (2.96)	1.784** (4.57)	-0.121 (0.35)	143
Aid from family, friends Household reports use of food gifts from friends and relatives as					
a source of income	0.554 (1.40)	0.157 (0.44)	1.078** (2.69)	0.329 (0.90)	74
Asset nonpoor	0.969 (1.50)	-0.005 (0.01)	0.727 (1.18)	-0.609 (1.06)	31
Asset poor	0.413 (0.72)	0.313 (0.54)	1.762** (2.42)	1.183** (2.13)	43
Household reports nonfood gifts from friends and relatives as a source of income	0.168	-0.112	-0.185	0.568*	120
Asset poppoor	(0.54) 0.097	(0.42) 0.651	(0.60) -0.082	(1.94)	50
Asset poor	(0.20) 0.439	0.651 (1.52) -0.847**	-0.082 (0.19) -0.069	0.933* (1.94) 0.394	50 70
Asset poor	0.439 (0.97)	-0.84/*** (2.17)	-0.069 (0.15)	0.394 (1.01)	70

Table 5—Household fixed effects logit estimates of household coping responses to idiosyncratic shocks

Notes: Additional regressors included but not reported include time varying regressors: household size, age composition of household, gender composition of household, and survey round. Z-value reported in brackets. * denotes confidence at the 10 percent level; ** denotes confidence at the 5 percent level.

Asset-poor households, however, were more likely to receive positive remittances, have positive net sales of livestock, and report food gifts from friends and relatives. Asset-nonpoor households had an increased probability of having received nonfood gifts.

There appears to be a variety of traditional coping mechanisms available to these households to cope with the shocks they experience. Households do not rely on a single mechanism, but cope with different shocks using different strategies. Asset-poor households were more likely to use out-migration of members, remittances, and food gifts from friends and relatives. Both asset-nonpoor and asset-poor households use livestock sales and credit.

In addition, Table 6 explores whether shocks induced households to enter into noncrop activities or alter consumption behavior, again disaggregating the sample into poor and nonpoor households. Generally, asset-nonpoor households are more likely to enter into new activities as a response to income shocks.¹⁰ Crop loss increased the likelihood that nonpoor households' reported income from service jobs. Illness-related shocks increased the likelihood of earning income through off-farm agricultural labor, but decreased the likelihood of earning from artisan activities. The predominance of female participation in this activity, the effect that others' illness would have on the household workload of the female, and their own illness decreasing their ability to participate in activities outside of their traditional household duties would be consistent with this finding. Livestock losses increased the likelihood of the nonpoor to undertake artisan and service employment. Service employment also saw more participation from the income shock inability to cultivate land. Meanwhile, asset-poor households were more likely to undertake service-related activities as a result of crop and livestock losses respectively. This use of ex post income diversification as a coping strategy by nonpoor households

¹⁰ This relationship between adjustments in income as a result of income shocks suggests some endogeneity in income changes, an issue we address in a later section.

	Income shock					
		At least one	Lost	Land		
	Lost crops	member of	livestock	cultivated		
	due to	household lost	due to	less than	Number	
	insect	productive time	theft or	land	of	
Iousehold income or consumption response	infestation	due to illness	death	available	groups	
ncome diversification					8 . 1	
Household reports income from activities not own agriculture	0.717*	0.024	0.806*	-0.037	66	
nousenera reports meente nom aen mee not evin agrieatare	(1.71)	(0.07)	(1.67)	(0.09)	00	
Asset nonpoor	1.475*	-0.564	0.502	-0.259	28	
Asset holpool	(1.96)	(0.95)	(0.71)	(0.33)	20	
Asset near	0.324	0.439	1.065	0.271	38	
Asset poor		(0.91)			30	
11	(0.59) -0.320	()	(1.40) -0.027	(0.49)	20	
Household reports agricultural labor as a source of income		1.762**		-0.207	36	
	(0.05)	(2.65)	(0.05)	(0.27)		
Asset nonpoor	1.413	2.995*	-0.677	-0.607	17	
	(1.13)	(1.77)	(0.66)	(0.47)		
Asset poor	-4.273*	2.066	2.725	-0.819	19	
	(1.79)	(1.33)	(1.42)	(0.28)		
Household reports artisan activities as a source of income	-0.114	-0.667**	0.671**	0.370	117	
	(0.38)	(2.45)	(2.04)	(1.18)		
Asset nonpoor	-0.025	-0.817*	1.073**	0.449	54	
•	(0.05)	(1.83)1	(2.29)	(0.90)		
Asset poor	-0.145	-0.571	0.083	0.277	63	
<u>I</u>	(0.34)	(1.58)	(0.17)	(0.66)		
Household reports income from service activities	0.496*	-0.176	0.796**	0.810**	126	
	(1.77)	(0.70)	(2.70)	(2.78)	120	
Asset nonpoor	1.330**	0.161	1.586**	1.446**	47	
Asset holipool					4/	
A 4	(2.16) 0.117	(0.32) -0.243	(2.68) 0.722*	(2.70) 0.492	79	
Asset poor					19	
	(0.33)	(0.79)	(1.75)	(1.31)		
ood consumption						
Served less preferred foods once in last week	0.636**	-0.387	0.314	-0.108	113	
•	(2.21)	(1.50)	(1.02)	(0.36)		
Asset nonpoor	0.316	-0.520	0.734*	0.209	55	
I	(0.75)	(1.29)	(1.70)	(0.48)		
Asset poor	1.126**	-0.236	-0.603	-0.274	58	
1.0001 poor	(2.54)	(0.65)	(1.19)	(0.63)	00	
Served less preferred foods more than five times in last week	0.241	0.541*	0.081	-0.482	86	
Served less preferred foods more than five times in fast week	(0.60)		(0.23)		80	
A		(1.75)		(1.43)	20	
Asset nonpoor	0.827	0.991	0.219	-0.962	29	
	(1.23)	(1.61)	(0.43)	(1.64)		
Asset poor	-0.114	0.662*	0.109	-0.078	57	
	(0.22)	(1.67)	(0.22)	(0.18)		
Served less food to men in last week once	0.766**	0.164	0.208	-0.661**	158	
	(2.88)	(0.74)	(0.76)	(2.44)		
Asset nonpoor	0.285	0.048	0.503	-0.547	64	
-	(0.73)	(0.14)	(1.36)	(1.32)		
Asset poor	1.295**	0.279	-0.205	-0.668*	94	
	(3.18)	(0.93)	(0.48)	(1.79)		
Served less food to men in last week two or three times	0.727**	0.301	0.278	-0.123	149	
	(2.65)	(1.31)	(1.04)	(0.45)	1.0	
Asset nonpoor	0.684	0.035	0.445	-0.104	52	
		(0.09)			32	
	(1.45) 0.877**	()	(1.130	(0.23)	07	
A start moor		0.461	0.085	-0.109	97	
Asset poor		(1.57)	(0.00)	(0.2.0)		
1	(2.39)	(1.57)	(0.22)	(0.30)		
1	(2.39) 0.723**	0.167	0.672**	-0.574**	152	
1	(2.39) 0.723** (2.67)	0.167 (0.73)	0.672** (2.50)	-0.574** (2.11)	152	
Asset poor Served less food to women in last week once Asset nonpoor	(2.39) 0.723**	0.167	0.672**	-0.574**	152 66	

Table 6—Household fixed effects logit estimates of household income and consumption responses to idiosyncratic shocks

(continued)

		Incon	ne shock		
Household income or consumption response	Lost crops due to insect infestation	At least one member of household lost productive time due to illness	Lost livestock due to theft or death	Land cultivated less than land available	Number of groups
Asset poor	1.527**	0.448	0.399	-0.865**	86
16500 poor	(3.45)	(1.36)	(0.92)	(2.15)	00
Served less food to children in last week two or three times	0.753**	0.041	-0.089	0.021	144
	(2.57)	(0.18)	(0.32)	(0.08)	
Asset nonpoor	0.512	-0.130	-0.016	-0.123	48
I I I I	(1.00)	(0.33)	(0.04)	(0.25)	
Asset poor	0.841**	0.117	-0.257	0.112	96
1	(2.22)	(0.39)	(0.68)	(0.32)	
Household members missed meals in last week two or three		× /	· · · ·		
times	0.471	0.855**	-0.061	0.800*	62
	(1.01)	(2.13)	(0.14)	(1.75)	
Household members missed food for a day in last week two or					
three times	0.087	1.814**	-0.293	1.039*	49
	(0.17)	(3.12)	(0.56)	(1.86)	

Notes: Additional regressors included but not reported include time varying regressors: household size, age composition of household, gender composition of household, and survey round. Z-value reported in brackets. * denotes confidence at the 10 percent level; ** denotes confidence at the 5 percent level.

contrasts with changes in food consumption by asset-poor households. Asset-poor households were more likely to ration food consumption, given these idiosyncratic shocks, or to switch to less-preferred foods.

Therefore, income diversification seems to be used relatively more by nonpoor households as a coping strategy across all income activities and shocks than it is for asset-poor households. While this result may highlight an inability for asset-poor households to diversify income sources, thereby signaling their increased vulnerability to income shocks in the longer term, this may not necessarily be the case in the Zone Lacustre. As shown in Table 3, a vast majority of households do report income generation across a variety of activities. Asset-nonpoor households are more likely to use these activities as a means for coping, while asset-poor households may diversify their activities across all periods or report income from a variety of activities, regardless of whether they experience a shock. It may be that asset-poor households are caught in a poverty trap whereby they, ex ante, diversify their incomes into activities that may not be an optimal allocation of labor as a means of insuring income. Asset nonpoor households use these income-generating activities as an ex post means to shift income generation. These nonpoor households, therefore, may be in a relatively better position to allocate their labor toward the best risk/return activities in times of economic upturn and in a position of greater flexibility for times of economic downturn.

Households in the Zone Lacustre use a portfolio of coping strategies across income shocks. Coping strategies are complemented by income diversification activities by the nonpoor. Further, differences between the two wealth groups in their use of coping strategies highlights the relative vulnerability of the asset poor. This group may be unable to effectively access intratemporal consumption smoothing mechanisms, but it is relatively more likely to use remittances, outmigration, and food gifts from family. Thus, general income diversification is not only a coping strategy, but also a potentially inefficient form of insurance.

Further Tests of Consumption Smoothing

We now consider a stronger version of tests for consumption smoothing and the impact of changes in total household income on changes in consumption with controls for covariant shocks via inclusion of the VD_{tv} term. That is, we estimate

$$\Delta \ln c_{htv} = \Sigma \Theta_{tv} (VD_{tv}) + \gamma \Delta \ln y_{htv} + \lambda X_{htv} + \Delta e_{htv} , \qquad (3)$$

where $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$ is changes in log per capita income as defined in Section 4, γ is a parameter to be estimated, and all other variables and parameters retain the definitions given in equation (1). As Skoufias (2002) explains, under conditions of complete consumption smoothing, we would expect changes in income to have no effect on consumption. The coefficient on income changes, therefore, should be zero after controlling for covariate shocks.

Specification (1) reported in Table 7 shows that the coefficient, or elasticity of changes in consumption given income shocks, while statistically significant, was very close to zero at 0.076. However, this specification implies that positive and negative shocks are treated symmetrically; positive shocks are assumed to have the same impacts as negative shocks. This is a strong assumption; if one believed, for example, that it was

easier to save than to gain access to credit, such symmetry would not be expected.¹¹ Specification (2) takes this into account, including positive and negative income shocks as separate regressors. While the coefficients on positive income shocks are larger in magnitude, for both the full sample as well as a disaggregation by wealth, F tests do not reject the null hypothesis that positive and negative shocks have equal effects.

 Table 7—The impact of changes in log household per capita income on log household per capita consumption

 (Dependent variable: Change in log per capita household consumption)

		Parameter estimates					
	(1)		2)				
Sample	$\Delta \ln y_{htv}$	Positive $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$	Negative $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$	Sample size			
Full sample	0.076** (4.30)	0.113** (3.61)	0.046 (1.43)	591			
Asset-nonpoor households	0.137** (3.94)	0.155** (2.82)	0.125* (1.85)	221			
Asset-poor households	0.038* (1.77)	0.077 (1.79)	0.005 (0.16)	370			

Notes: * = Significant at the 10 percent level, ** = significant at the 5 percent level. Absolute value of t-statistics is in parentheses. Standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity using Huber-White method. In specification (1), $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$ contains both positive and negative values; these are separated into two terms in specification (2). Values for F-test that positive and negative income shocks have statistically different impacts on change in consumption are: for the full sample, 1.56 (Prob value = 0.21); for asset nonpoor households, 0.09 (Prob value = 0.77); for asset-poor households, 1.32 (Prob value = 0.25). Asset nonpoor households are in the top two quintiles in terms of value of livestock holdings. Asset poor are those households in the bottom three quintiles. Additional regressors included but not reported are change in family size between Round *t* and Round *t* – 1, whether the household is headed by a female, age of household head, age squared of household head, and a full set of community and round interaction dummy variables.

Partial Consumption Insurance

We now examine the extent to which partial consumption smoothing is occurring among households within the same village. Here we estimate the effects of changes in household and village average income against household consumption by estimating the equation

$$\Delta \ln c_{htv} = \alpha + \beta \Delta \ln y_{htv} + \gamma \Delta \left(\overline{\ln y_{tv}} \right) + \delta X_{htv} + \varepsilon_{htv} , \qquad (4)$$

¹¹ We thank Stefan Dercon for suggesting this example.

where $\Delta(\overline{\ln y_{iv}})$ denotes the change or growth rate in average village income and all other variables are as previously defined. As Skoufias (2002) argues, where income shocks are not shared at all among community members, we would expect γ to equal zero. Where partial insurance occurs, $\gamma \neq 0$. Put another way, if all households were autarkic—in the sense of not engaging in credit or insurance transactions with each other—changes in consumption of any one household are independent of changes in the income of other households. This statement is equivalent to claiming that γ equals zero.

The top panel of Table 8 provides estimates of γ for all households and a disaggregation based on wealth. For the sample as a whole, there is some evidence of mutual insurance in the sense that a 10 percent increase in village mean income raises household consumption by 1.29 percent. When we disaggregate by wealth, we again observe that changes in village incomes appear slightly more relevant for the poorest households in this (generally poor) sample. These findings are consistent with a number of results reported in Table 5. In that table, we noted that poor households were more likely to receive aid from family or friends following an idiosyncratic shock. By contrast, nonpoor households were more autarkic in their behavior, relying more on entry into other income activities than on pooling risk with other community members.

Table 8 also examines whether positive and negative representations of covariate shocks have different impacts. These are reported in the lower panel of Table 8. As in Table 7, while the coefficients on positive income shocks are larger in magnitude, for both the full sample as well as a disaggregation by wealth, F tests do not reject the null hypothesis that positive and negative covariate shocks have equal effects.

Bias Concerns

It is worth considering whether the OLS estimates presented in Tables 7 and 8 are biased. Such bias could arise for several reasons. By itself, measurement error in righthand-side variables generates "attenuation bias" that biases coefficients toward zero.

Table 8—Impact of change in log per capita income on change in log per capita
consumption, controlling for change in mean log village income

(Dependent variable: Change in log per capita household consumption)

	Specification (1)			
Sample	γ estimates $(\Delta(\ln y_w))$	β estimates ($\Delta \ln y_{htv}$)	Sample size	
All households	0.129** (2.98)	0.089** (5.03)	591	
Asset nonpoor households	0.112 (1.44)	0.139** (4.13)	221	
Asset-poor households	0.159** (3.33)	0.061** (2.93)	370	

	Specification (2)				
	γ estimates	γ estimates	β estimates	β estimates	-
Sample	(Positive $\Delta(\overline{\ln y_w})$)	(Negative $\Delta(\overline{\ln y_{tv}})$)	(Positive $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$)	(Negative $\Delta \ln y_{htv}$)	Sample size
All households	0.221** (2.69)	0.067 (0.80)	0.139** (4.33)	0.043 (1.44)	591
Asset nonpoor households	0.248 (1.63)	0.045	0.178** (3.39)	0.106 (1.65)	221
Asset-poor households	0.263** (2.72)	0.075 (0.86)	0.117** (2.77)	0.009 (0.33)	370

Notes: * = Significant at the 10 percent level, ** = significant at the 5 percent level. Absolute value of t-statistics is in parentheses. Standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity using Huber-White method. In specification (1), $\Delta \ln y_{hrv}$ contains both positive and negative values; these are separated into two terms in specification (2). Values for F test that positive and negative income shocks have statistically different impacts on change in consumption are: for the full sample, 1.12 (Prob value = 0.29); for asset nonpoor households, 0.65 (Prob value = 0.42); for asset-poor households, 1.44 (Prob value = 0.23). Asset nonpoor households are in the top two quintiles in terms of value of livestock holdings. Asset poor are those households in the bottom three quintiles. Additional regressors included but not reported are change in family size between Round *t* and Round *t* – 1, whether the household is headed by a female, age of household head, age squared of household head, and a full set of round dummy variables.

But, as noted by Deaton (1997) and Skoufias (2002), it is possible that imputation errors in the construction of the food consumption variable may bias the income coefficients upward. A significant share of income and consumption is accounted for by food that is produced and consumed by the household and neither sold nor bought in the market. Any errors in imputing values to consumption may be positively correlated with measurement errors in the income variable, and for positive coefficients, this upward bias may work in the opposite direction to the standard downward attenuation bias produced by the measurement errors in the income variable alone (Deaton 1997). Lastly, Tables 5 and 6 indicated that households undertake purposive actions—such as entering new income-generating activities—in response to shocks. Such activities affect incomes and render the change in log income variable endogenous.

The standard solution to both measurement error and endogeneity concerns is to estimate using two-stage least squares. The income shocks described earlier in the paper would, in principle, appear to serve as valid instruments. However, for us to be confident in such estimates, we need to be satisfied that our instruments are good predictors of our dependent variable and are uncorrelated with the dependent variable in our main regression. As Bound, Jaeger, and Baker (1995) note, poor instruments do not resolve these concerns.

Mindful of these considerations, Table 9 reports two sets of results. The top half of the table is based on a specification whereby the idiosyncratic shocks listed in Table 4 (crops were attacked by insects, at least one household member lost productive time due to illness, livestock was lost due to theft or death, land cultivated was less than land available) serve as instruments. Control variables include changes in household size, age

	F test on "relevance"	Coefficient on change in log	Overidentification	
Model 1	of instruments	household per capita income	test	Hausman test
2SLS estimates	0.58	0.396	0.60	3.22
		(1.29)		
OLS estimates		0.077**		
		(4.30)		
	F test on "relevance"	Coefficient on change in log	Durban-Watson-	
Model 2	of instruments	household per capita income	Hausman test	Hausman test
	5 52**	0 293**	0.70	3.12
2SLS estimates	5.52**	0.275		
2SLS estimates	5.52**	(2.77)		
2SLS estimates OLS estimates	5.52	0.2/0		

Table 9—Two-stage least squares estimates of the impact of changes in log household per
capita income on log household per capita consumption

Notes: * = Significant at the 10 percent level, ** = significant at the 5 percent level. Absolute value of t-statistics is in parentheses. Standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity using Huber-White method. Model 1 uses shocks reported in Table 4 as instruments and includes (but does not report) as regressors: change in family size between Round t and Round t - 1, whether the household is headed by a female, age of household head, age squared of household head, and a full set of community and round interaction dummy variables. Model 2 uses changes in livestock holdings resulting from death or theft as instrument and includes (but does not report) as regressors: change in family size between Round t - 1, change in village mean income, and round dummies.

and sex of the household head, and a full set of community and round interaction terms. These shocks perform poorly as instruments, with an F value in the first-stage regression of 0.58—well below the minimum value reported in Bound, Jaeger, and Baker (1995). So, although these shocks pass the overidentification test outlined in Davidson and MacKinnon (1993), a Hausman (1978) specification test does not indicate any significant difference between these results and the OLS estimates. Because the explanatory power of these shocks is so poor, it is not clear that the top half of Table 9 addresses our bias concerns.

Given this difficulty, we searched through our set of idiosyncratic shock variables, looking for those that were strongly correlated with changes in income. We also amended our model specification to economize on degrees of freedom; control variables include only changes in household size, changes in village mean incomes, and round dummies. The value of livestock lost entered by itself proved to be the shock representation that produced the highest F statistic. Using the tabulations reported in Bound, Jaeger, and Baker (1995), a single instrument with an F statistic of 5.52 will produce a bias relative to the OLS results of less than 10 percent. The low value of the Durban-Watson-Hausman test indicates that it also passes the "uncorrelatedness" test. These results suggest that the OLS results are conservative estimates of the impact of income shocks to consumption with the coefficient on change in log household per capita income almost trebling when we move from OLS to 2SLS. However, a Hausman test does not reject a null hypothesis that the OLS and 2SLS estimates are equal.

Household Vulnerability by Socioeconomic Characteristic

Finally, we explore whether certain groups or villages within the Zone Lacustre are better able to smooth consumption relative to their reference groups in the face of idiosyncratic income shocks. We estimate

$$\Delta \ln c_{htv} = \sum_{tv} \theta_{tv} (D_{tv}) + \beta \Delta \ln y_{htv} + \gamma Z + \delta (Z * \Delta \ln y_{htv}) + \pi X_{htv} + \Delta \varepsilon_{htv} , \qquad (5)$$

where Z is a binary variable to identify those households possessing the characteristic of examination. The magnitude and sign of the δ coefficients indicate whether there is higher or lower covariation between income and consumption changes in the group of examination relative to its reference group.

Table 10 reports the results of estimating equation (5). Neither female-headed households, households with young children, households with young and old household heads, households with more than four members, households whose primary economic activities are focused around noncrop activities (e.g., pastoralists, fishers, and artisans), nor households who were not members of the dominant ethnic group experience greater variation in consumption, given income changes than their respective reference groups. However, recall that an important feature of Mali is that much of the country relies on highly variable rainfall. Also recall that the 10 villages surveyed were purposively chosen to reflect differing degrees of control over water supply for agriculture. We exploit this intervillage variation in Table 10. Here, the sample is divided into two groups, best and worst control over water supply. The villages with access to riverside irrigation infrastructure (Tomi and Ouaki) and on ponds, but with infrastructure that controlled flooding (Aldianabangou, Tomba, and Hamakoira), could smooth food consumption, but had some variations in nonfood consumption attributable to income changes. Villages on ponds but with no flood control (Mangourou, Gouati, and N'goro), and those practicing rainfed agriculture (Goundam, Touskel, and Anguira) experienced changes in total consumption and larger changes in nonfood consumption as shocks to income occurred.

4. Conclusions

This paper has explored vulnerability issues in the context of the Zone Lacustre, Mali, a poor region in one of the world's poorest countries, as viewed through the lens of consumption smoothing. Our principal findings are that individual idiosyncratic shocks appear to have little impact on consumption. Although there is no one single result, in

(Dependent variable: Change in log total per capita consumption)	
Asset-nonpoor households (reference group)	0.139**
	(4.00)
Asset-poor households	-0.099**
	(2.22)
Households in villages with riverside or pond irrigation infrastructure	0.043*
	(1.80)
Households with no flooding control or reliant on rainfed agriculture	0.067*
	(1.90)
Male-headed households (reference group)	0.080**
	(4.08)
Female-headed households	-0.033
	(0.68)
Households with no members ages 0-6 (reference group)	0.063**
	(2.91)
Households with members ages 0-6	0.045
	(1.21)
Households whose head is over age 40 (reference group)	0.080**
Upwahalda whasa haad is aso 40 ar laas	(3.90)
Households whose head is age 40 or less	-0.029
Households whose head is under age 60 (reference group)	(0.64) 0.069**
nousenolus whose head is under age oo (reference group)	
Households whose head is age 60 or older	(2.89) 0.015
Households whose head is age 60 of older	(0.35)
Household with more than four members (reference group)	0.086**
nousehold with more than four members (reference group)	(3.38)
Household with four or fewer memberes	-0.022
Household with four of rewel memories	(0.55)
Households whose main occupation in Round 1 is crop based (reference group)	0.072**
Trousenoids whose main occupation in Round 1 is crop based (reference group)	(3.37)
Households whose main occupation in Round 1 is not crop related	0.015
	(0.38)
Household is a member of the Sonrhai ethnic group	0.070**
6	(3.18)
Household is not a member of the Sonrhai ethnic group	0.017
	(0.51)

Table 10—The effect of idiosyncratic income shocks on consumption, by household characteristics

Notes: * = Significant at the 10 percent level, ** = significant at the 5 percent level. Absolute value of t-statistics is in parentheses. Standard errors are corrected for heteroscedasticity using Huber-White method. Additional regressors included but not reported are: change in family size between Round t and Round t - 1, a dummy variable denoting the specified socioeconomic characteristic, and a full set of community and round interaction dummy variables.

general, nonpoor households are more likely to enter into new income-generating activities given these shocks, while poor households are more likely to engage in credit or gift exchange or to ration consumption. A stronger test of consumption smoothing shows that—controlling for covariate shocks—changes in household income lead to modest changes in consumption. Covariant shocks, as measured by village/round dummies, are

shown always to lead to changes in consumption, although households with access to improved water-control infrastructure experience less consumption volatility than those that rely on rainfall or the flooding of the Niger River. Risk pooling over these covariant shocks, as measured by the relationship between changes in mean village incomes and household consumption, is a characteristic of poorer households. These results are robust to concerns regarding bias resulting from measurement error or endogeneity of changes in income.

References

- Bound, J., D. Jaeger, and R. Baker. 1995. Problems with instrumental variables estimation when the correlation between the instruments and the engodenous explanatory variables is weak. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 90 (430): 443-450.
- Christiaensen, L. 1999. Mali case study: Methodology and descriptives. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, D.C. Photocopy.
- Christiaensen, L., J. Hoddinott, and G. Bergeron. 2001. Comparing village characteristics derived from rapid appraisals and household surveys: A tale from northern Mali. *Journal of Development Studies* 37 (3): 1-20.
- Davidson, R., and J. MacKinnon. 1993. Estimation and inference in econometrics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Deaton, A. 1997. *The analysis of household surveys*. Baltimore, Md., U.S.A.: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Dercon, S., and P. Krishnan. 2000. Vulnerability, seasonality, and poverty in Ethiopia. *Journal of Development Studies* 36 (6): 25-53.
- Hausman, J. 1978. Specification tests in econometrics. Econometrica 46: 1251-1271.
- Huber, P. 1967. The behavior of maximum likelihood estimates under nonstandard conditions. In *Proceedings of the Fifth Berkeley Symposium in Mathematical Statistics and Probability*. Berkeley, Calif., U.S.A.: University of California Press.
- Morduch, J. 1999. Between the state and the market: Can informal insurance patch the safety net? *World Bank Research Observer* 14 (2): 187-207.
- Skoufias, E. 2002. Consumption smoothing in Russia: Evidence from the RLMS. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, D.C. Photocopy.
- Townsend, R. M. 1995. Consumption insurance: An evaluation of risk-bearing systems in low-income economies. *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 9 (3): 83-102.

- White, H. 1980. Heteroscedasticity consistent covariance matrix and a direct text for heteroscedasticity. *Econometrica* 48: 817-838.
- World Bank. 2000. *World development report 2000/2001: Attacking poverty*. New York: Oxford University Press.

- 174 The Cost of Poverty Alleviation Transfer Programs: A Comparative Analysis of Three Programs in Latin America, Natàlia Caldés, David Coady, and John A. Maluccio, February 2004
- 173 Food Aid Distribution in Bangladesh: Leakage and Operational Performance, Akhter U. Ahmed, Shahidur Rashid, Manohar Sharma, and Sajjad Zohir in collaboration with Mohammed Khaliquzzaman, Sayedur Rahman, and the Data Analysis and Technical Assistance Limited, February 2004
- 172 Designing and Evaluating Social Safety Nets: Theory, Evidence, and Policy Conclusions, David P. Cody, January 2004
- 171 Living Life: Overlooked Aspects of Urban Employment, James Garrett, January 2004
- **170** From Research to Program Design: Use of Formative Research in Haiti to Develop a Behavior Change Communication Program to Prevent Malnutrition, Purnima Menon, Marie T. Ruel, Cornelia Loechl, and Gretel Pelto, December 2003
- **169** Nonmarket Networks Among Migrants: Evidence from Metropolitan Bangkok, Thailand, Futoshi Yamauchi and Sakiko Tanabe, December 2003
- 168 Long-Term Consequences of Early Childhood Malnutrition, Harold Alderman, John Hoddinott, and Bill Kinsey, December 2003
- 167 *Public Spending and Poverty in Mozambique*, Rasmus Heltberg, Kenneth Simler, and Finn Tarp, December 2003
- 166 Are Experience and Schooling Complementary? Evidence from Migrants' Assimilation in the Bangkok Labor Market, Futoshi Yamauchi, December 2003
- 165 What Can Food Policy Do to Redirect the Diet Transition? Lawrence Haddad, December 2003
- 164 Impacts of Agricultural Research on Poverty: Findings of an Integrated Economic and Social Analysis, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Michelle Adato, Lawrence Haddad, and Peter Hazell, October 2003
- 163 An Integrated Economic and Social Analysis to Assess the Impact of Vegetable and Fishpond Technologies on Poverty in Rural Bangladesh, Kelly Hallman, David Lewis, and Suraiya Begum, October 2003
- **162** The Impact of Improved Maize Germplasm on Poverty Alleviation: The Case of Tuxpeño-Derived Material in Mexico, Mauricio R. Bellon, Michelle Adato, Javier Becerril, and Dubravka Mindek, October 2003
- 161 Assessing the Impact of High-Yielding Varieties of Maize in Resettlement Areas of Zimbabwe, Michael Bourdillon, Paul Hebinck, John Hoddinott, Bill Kinsey, John Marondo, Netsayi Mudege, and Trudy Owens, October 2003
- 160 The Impact of Agroforestry-Based Soil Fertility Replenishment Practices on the Poor in Western Kenya, Frank Place, Michelle Adato, Paul Hebinck, and Mary Omosa, October 2003
- 159 Rethinking Food Aid to Fight HIV/AIDS, Suneetha Kadiyala and Stuart Gillespie, October 2003
- 158 Food Aid and Child Nutrition in Rural Ethiopia, Agnes R. Quisumbing, September 2003
- 157 *HIV/AIDS, Food Security, and Rural Livelihoods: Understanding and Responding*, Michael Loevinsohn and Stuart Gillespie, September 2003
- **156** *Public Policy, Food Markets, and Household Coping Strategies in Bangladesh: Lessons from the 1998 Floods,* Carlo del Ninno, Paul A. Dorosh, and Lisa C. Smith, September 2003
- **155** Consumption Insurance and Vulnerability to Poverty: A Synthesis of the Evidence from Bangladesh, Ethiopia, Mali, Mexico, and Russia, Emmanuel Skoufias and Agnes R. Quisumbing, August 2003
- 154 *Cultivating Nutrition: A Survey of Viewpoints on Integrating Agriculture and Nutrition*, Carol E. Levin, Jennifer Long, Kenneth R. Simler, and Charlotte Johnson-Welch, July 2003
- **153** Maquiladoras and Market Mamas: Women's Work and Childcare in Guatemala City and Accra, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Kelly Hallman, and Marie T. Ruel, June 2003
- **152** *Income Diversification in Zimbabwe: Welfare Implications From Urban and Rural Areas*, Lire Ersado, June 2003

- 151 Childcare and Work: Joint Decisions Among Women in Poor Neighborhoods of Guatemala City, Kelly Hallman, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Marie T. Ruel, and Bénédicte de la Brière, June 2003
- 150 The Impact of PROGRESA on Food Consumption, John Hoddinott and Emmanuel Skoufias, May 2003
- 149 Do Crowded Classrooms Crowd Out Learning? Evidence From the Food for Education Program in Bangladesh, Akhter U. Ahmed and Mary Arends-Kuenning, May 2003
- 148 Stunted Child-Overweight Mother Pairs: An Emerging Policy Concern? James L. Garrett and Marie T. Ruel, April 2003
- 147 Are Neighbors Equal? Estimating Local Inequality in Three Developing Countries, Chris Elbers, Peter Lanjouw, Johan Mistiaen, Berk Özler, and Kenneth Simler, April 2003
- **146** *Moving Forward with Complementary Feeding: Indicators and Research Priorities*, Marie T. Ruel, Kenneth H. Brown, and Laura E. Caulfield, April 2003
- 145 *Child Labor and School Decisions in Urban and Rural Areas: Cross Country Evidence*, Lire Ersado, December 2002
- 144 Targeting Outcomes Redux, David Coady, Margaret Grosh, and John Hoddinott, December 2002
- 143 Progress in Developing an Infant and Child Feeding Index: An Example Using the Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey 2000, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, December 2002
- 142 Social Capital and Coping With Economic Shocks: An Analysis of Stunting of South African Children, Michael R. Carter and John A. Maluccio, December 2002
- 141 *The Sensitivity of Calorie-Income Demand Elasticity to Price Changes: Evidence from Indonesia*, Emmanuel Skoufias, November 2002
- 140 Is Dietary Diversity an Indicator of Food Security or Dietary Quality? A Review of Measurement Issues and Research Needs, Marie T. Ruel, November 2002
- 139 Can South Africa Afford to Become Africa's First Welfare State? James Thurlow, October 2002
- **138** The Food for Education Program in Bangladesh: An Evaluation of its Impact on Educational Attainment and Food Security, Akhter U. Ahmed and Carlo del Ninno, September 2002
- **137** *Reducing Child Undernutrition: How Far Does Income Growth Take Us?* Lawrence Haddad, Harold Alderman, Simon Appleton, Lina Song, and Yisehac Yohannes, August 2002
- 136 Dietary Diversity as a Food Security Indicator, John Hoddinott and Yisehac Yohannes, June 2002
- **135** *Trust, Membership in Groups, and Household Welfare: Evidence from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa,* Lawrence Haddad and John A. Maluccio, May 2002
- 134 In-Kind Transfers and Household Food Consumption: Implications for Targeted Food Programs in Bangladesh, Carlo del Ninno and Paul A. Dorosh, May 2002
- **133** Avoiding Chronic and Transitory Poverty: Evidence From Egypt, 1997-99, Lawrence Haddad and Akhter U. Ahmed, May 2002
- **132** Weighing What's Practical: Proxy Means Tests for Targeting Food Subsidies in Egypt, Akhter U. Ahmed and Howarth E. Bouis, May 2002
- 131 Does Subsidized Childcare Help Poor Working Women in Urban Areas? Evaluation of a Government-Sponsored Program in Guatemala City, Marie T. Ruel, Bénédicte de la Brière, Kelly Hallman, Agnes Quisumbing, and Nora Coj, April 2002
- 130 Creating a Child Feeding Index Using the Demographic and Health Surveys: An Example from Latin America, Marie T. Ruel and Purnima Menon, April 2002
- **129** Labor Market Shocks and Their Impacts on Work and Schooling: Evidence from Urban Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- **128** Assessing the Impact of Agricultural Research on Poverty Using the Sustainable Livelihoods Framework, Michelle Adato and Ruth Meinzen-Dick, March 2002

- 127 A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Demand- and Supply-Side Education Interventions: The Case of PROGRESA in Mexico, David P. Coady and Susan W. Parker, March 2002
- 126 Health Care Demand in Rural Mozambique: Evidence from the 1996/97 Household Survey, Magnus Lindelow, February 2002
- **125** Are the Welfare Losses from Imperfect Targeting Important?, Emmanuel Skoufias and David Coady, January 2002
- 124 *The Robustness of Poverty Profiles Reconsidered*, Finn Tarp, Kenneth Simler, Cristina Matusse, Rasmus Heltberg, and Gabriel Dava, January 2002
- 123 Conditional Cash Transfers and Their Impact on Child Work and Schooling: Evidence from the PROGRESA Program in Mexico, Emmanuel Skoufias and Susan W. Parker, October 2001
- 122 Strengthening Public Safety Nets: Can the Informal Sector Show the Way?, Jonathan Morduch and Manohar Sharma, September 2001
- 121 Targeting Poverty Through Community-Based Public Works Programs: A Cross-Disciplinary Assessment of Recent Experience in South Africa, Michelle Adato and Lawrence Haddad, August 2001
- **120** Control and Ownership of Assets Within Rural Ethiopian Households, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, August 2001
- **119** Assessing Care: Progress Towards the Measurement of Selected Childcare and Feeding Practices, and Implications for Programs, Mary Arimond and Marie T. Ruel, August 2001
- **118** *Is* PROGRESA *Working? Summary of the Results of an Evaluation by IFPRI*, Emmanuel Skoufias and Bonnie McClafferty, July 2001
- **117** Evaluation of the Distributional Power of PROGRESA's Cash Transfers in Mexico, David P. Coady, July 2001
- **116** *A Multiple-Method Approach to Studying Childcare in an Urban Environment: The Case of Accra, Ghana,* Marie T. Ruel, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, and Mary Arimond, June 2001
- **115** Are Women Overrepresented Among the Poor? An Analysis of Poverty in Ten Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christina Peña, June 2001
- **114** *Distribution, Growth, and Performance of Microfinance Institutions in Africa, Asia, and Latin America,* Cécile Lapenu and Manfred Zeller, June 2001
- 113 Measuring Power, Elizabeth Frankenberg and Duncan Thomas, June 2001
- **112** Effective Food and Nutrition Policy Responses to HIV/AIDS: What We Know and What We Need to Know, Lawrence Haddad and Stuart Gillespie, June 2001
- 111 An Operational Tool for Evaluating Poverty Outreach of Development Policies and Projects, Manfred Zeller, Manohar Sharma, Carla Henry, and Cécile Lapenu, June 2001
- **110** Evaluating Transfer Programs Within a General Equilibrium Framework, Dave Coady and Rebecca Lee Harris, June 2001
- 109 Does Cash Crop Adoption Detract From Childcare Provision? Evidence From Rural Nepal, Michael J. Paolisso, Kelly Hallman, Lawrence Haddad, and Shibesh Regmi, April 2001
- **108** How Efficiently Do Employment Programs Transfer Benefits to the Poor? Evidence from South Africa, Lawrence Haddad and Michelle Adato, April 2001
- **107** *Rapid Assessments in Urban Areas: Lessons from Bangladesh and Tanzania*, James L. Garrett and Jeanne Downen, April 2001
- 106 Strengthening Capacity to Improve Nutrition, Stuart Gillespie, March 2001
- **105** *The Nutritional Transition and Diet-Related Chronic Diseases in Asia: Implications for Prevention*, Barry M. Popkin, Sue Horton, and Soowon Kim, March 2001
- **104** An Evaluation of the Impact of PROGRESA on Preschool Child Height, Jere R. Behrman and John Hoddinott, March 2001

- **103** *Targeting the Poor in Mexico: An Evaluation of the Selection of Households for PROGRESA*, Emmanuel Skoufias, Benjamin Davis, and Sergio de la Vega, March 2001
- **102** School Subsidies for the Poor: Evaluating a Mexican Strategy for Reducing Poverty, T. Paul Schultz, March 2001
- **101** *Poverty, Inequality, and Spillover in Mexico's Education, Health, and Nutrition Program*, Sudhanshu Handa, Mari-Carmen Huerta, Raul Perez, and Beatriz Straffon, March 2001
- **100** On the Targeting and Redistributive Efficiencies of Alternative Transfer Instruments, David Coady and Emmanuel Skoufias, March 2001
- **99** *Cash Transfer Programs with Income Multipliers: PROCAMPO in Mexico*, Elisabeth Sadoulet, Alain de Janvry, and Benjamin Davis, January 2001
- **98** *Participation and Poverty Reduction: Issues, Theory, and New Evidence from South Africa*, John Hoddinott, Michelle Adato, Tim Besley, and Lawrence Haddad, January 2001
- 97 Socioeconomic Differentials in Child Stunting Are Consistently Larger in Urban Than in Rural Areas, Purnima Menon, Marie T. Ruel, and Saul S. Morris, December 2000
- 96 Attrition in Longitudinal Household Survey Data: Some Tests for Three Developing-Country Samples, Harold Alderman, Jere R. Behrman, Hans-Peter Kohler, John A. Maluccio, Susan Cotts Watkins, October 2000
- 95 Attrition in the Kwazulu Natal Income Dynamics Study 1993-1998, John Maluccio, October 2000
- 94 *Targeting Urban Malnutrition: A Multicity Analysis of the Spatial Distribution of Childhood Nutritional Status*, Saul Sutkover Morris, September 2000
- **93** *Mother-Father Resource Control, Marriage Payments, and Girl-Boy Health in Rural Bangladesh*, Kelly K. Hallman, September 2000
- 92 Assessing the Potential for Food-Based Strategies to Reduce Vitamin A and Iron Deficiencies: A Review of Recent Evidence, Marie T. Ruel and Carol E. Levin, July 2000
- **91** Comparing Village Characteristics Derived From Rapid Appraisals and Household Surveys: A Tale From Northern Mali, Luc Christiaensen, John Hoddinott, and Gilles Bergeron, July 2000
- **90** Empirical Measurements of Households' Access to Credit and Credit Constraints in Developing Countries: Methodological Issues and Evidence, Aliou Diagne, Manfred Zeller, and Manohar Sharma, July 2000
- 89 The Role of the State in Promoting Microfinance Institutions, Cécile Lapenu, June 2000
- **88** *The Determinants of Employment Status in Egypt*, Ragui Assaad, Fatma El-Hamidi, and Akhter U. Ahmed, June 2000
- 87 Changes in Intrahousehold Labor Allocation to Environmental Goods Collection: A Case Study from Rural Nepal, Priscilla A. Cooke, May 2000
- 86 Women's Assets and Intrahousehold Allocation in Rural Bangladesh: Testing Measures of Bargaining Power, Agnes R. Quisumbing and Bénédicte de la Brière, April 2000
- **85** Intrahousehold Impact of Transfer of Modern Agricultural Technology: A Gender Perspective, Ruchira Tabassum Naved, April 2000
- 84 Intrahousehold Allocation and Gender Relations: New Empirical Evidence from Four Developing Countries, Agnes R. Quisumbing and John A. Maluccio, April 2000
- **83** *Quality or Quantity? The Supply-Side Determinants of Primary Schooling in Rural Mozambique*, Sudhanshu Handa and Kenneth R. Simler, March 2000
- 82 Pathways of Rural Development in Madagascar: An Empirical Investigation of the Critical Triangle of Environmental Sustainability, Economic Growth, and Poverty Alleviation, Manfred Zeller, Cécile Lapenu, Bart Minten, Eliane Ralison, Désiré Randrianaivo, and Claude Randrianarisoa, March 2000
- 81 *The Constraints to Good Child Care Practices in Accra: Implications for Programs*, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Daniel G. Maxwell, Carol E. Levin, and Saul S. Morris, February 2000

- **80** Nontraditional Crops and Land Accumulation Among Guatemalan Smallholders: Is the Impact Sustainable? Calogero Carletto, February 2000
- 79 Adult Health in the Time of Drought, John Hoddinott and Bill Kinsey, January 2000
- 78 *Determinants of Poverty in Mozambique: 1996-97*, Gaurav Datt, Kenneth Simler, Sanjukta Mukherjee, and Gabriel Dava, January 2000
- 77 The Political Economy of Food Subsidy Reform in Egypt, Tammi Gutner, November 1999.
- 76 Raising Primary School Enrolment in Developing Countries: The Relative Importance of Supply and Demand, Sudhanshu Handa, November 1999
- 75 Determinants of Poverty in Egypt, 1997, Gaurav Datt and Dean Jolliffe, October 1999
- 74 Can Cash Transfer Programs Work in Resource-Poor Countries? The Experience in Mozambique, Jan W. Low, James L. Garrett, and Vitória Ginja, October 1999
- 73 Social Roles, Human Capital, and the Intrahousehold Division of Labor: Evidence from Pakistan, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, October 1999
- 72 Validity of Rapid Estimates of Household Wealth and Income for Health Surveys in Rural Africa, Saul S. Morris, Calogero Carletto, John Hoddinott, and Luc J. M. Christiaensen, October 1999
- 71 Social Capital and Income Generation in South Africa, 1993-98, John Maluccio, Lawrence Haddad, and Julian May, September 1999
- 70 Child Health Care Demand in a Developing Country: Unconditional Estimates from the Philippines, Kelly Hallman, August 1999
- 69 Supply Response of West African Agricultural Households: Implications of Intrahousehold Preference Heterogeneity, Lisa C. Smith and Jean-Paul Chavas, July 1999
- 68 *Early Childhood Nutrition and Academic Achievement: A Longitudinal Analysis*, Paul Glewwe, Hanan Jacoby, and Elizabeth King, May 1999
- 67 Determinants of Household Access to and Participation in Formal and Informal Credit Markets in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, April 1999
- 66 *Working Women in an Urban Setting: Traders, Vendors, and Food Security in Accra*, Carol E. Levin, Daniel G. Maxwell, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Marie T. Ruel, Saul S. Morris, and Clement Ahiadeke, April 1999
- 65 Are Determinants of Rural and Urban Food Security and Nutritional Status Different? Some Insights from Mozambique, James L. Garrett and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- 64 Some Urban Facts of Life: Implications for Research and Policy, Marie T. Ruel, Lawrence Haddad, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 63 *Are Urban Poverty and Undernutrition Growing? Some Newly Assembled Evidence*, Lawrence Haddad, Marie T. Ruel, and James L. Garrett, April 1999
- 62 Good Care Practices Can Mitigate the Negative Effects of Poverty and Low Maternal Schooling on Children's Nutritional Status: Evidence from Accra, Marie T. Ruel, Carol E. Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Saul S. Morris, April 1999
- 61 Does Geographic Targeting of Nutrition Interventions Make Sense in Cities? Evidence from Abidjan and Accra, Saul S. Morris, Carol Levin, Margaret Armar-Klemesu, Daniel Maxwell, and Marie T. Ruel, April 1999
- **60** *Explaining Child Malnutrition in Developing Countries: A Cross-Country Analysis*, Lisa C. Smith and Lawrence Haddad, April 1999
- **59** *Placement and Outreach of Group-Based Credit Organizations: The Cases of ASA, BRAC, and PROSHIKA in Bangladesh*, Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, March 1999
- 58 Women's Land Rights in the Transition to Individualized Ownership: Implications for the Management of Tree Resources in Western Ghana, Agnes Quisumbing, Ellen Payongayong, J. B. Aidoo, and Keijiro Otsuka, February 1999

- 57 The Structure of Wages During the Economic Transition in Romania, Emmanuel Skoufias, February 1999
- 56 How Does the Human Rights Perspective Help to Shape the Food and Nutrition Policy Research Agenda?, Lawrence Haddad and Arne Oshaug, February 1999
- 55 *Efficiency in Intrahousehold Resource Allocation*, Marcel Fafchamps, December 1998
- 54 Endogeneity of Schooling in the Wage Function: Evidence from the Rural Philippines, John Maluccio, November 1998
- **53** Agricultural Wages and Food Prices in Egypt: A Governorate-Level Analysis for 1976-1993, Gaurav Datt and Jennifer Olmsted, November 1998
- 52 *Testing Nash Bargaining Household Models With Time-Series Data*, John Hoddinott and Christopher Adam, November 1998
- 51 Urban Challenges to Food and Nutrition Security: A Review of Food Security, Health, and Caregiving in the Cities, Marie T. Ruel, James L. Garrett, Saul S. Morris, Daniel Maxwell, Arne Oshaug, Patrice Engle, Purnima Menon, Alison Slack, and Lawrence Haddad, October 1998
- 50 Computational Tools for Poverty Measurement and Analysis, Gaurav Datt, October 1998
- 49 A Profile of Poverty in Egypt: 1997, Gaurav Datt, Dean Jolliffe, and Manohar Sharma, August 1998.
- **48** *Human Capital, Productivity, and Labor Allocation in Rural Pakistan*, Marcel Fafchamps and Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1998
- 47 Poverty in India and Indian States: An Update, Gaurav Datt, July 1998
- 46 Impact of Access to Credit on Income and Food Security in Malawi, Aliou Diagne, July 1998
- **45** *Does Urban Agriculture Help Prevent Malnutrition? Evidence from Kampala*, Daniel Maxwell, Carol Levin, and Joanne Csete, June 1998
- 44 *Can FAO's Measure of Chronic Undernourishment Be Strengthened?*, Lisa C. Smith, with a *Response* by Logan Naiken, May 1998
- 43 *How Reliable Are Group Informant Ratings? A Test of Food Security Rating in Honduras*, Gilles Bergeron, Saul Sutkover Morris, and Juan Manuel Medina Banegas, April 1998
- 42 Farm Productivity and Rural Poverty in India, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1998
- 41 The Political Economy of Urban Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa, Dan Maxwell, February 1998
- 40 Can Qualitative and Quantitative Methods Serve Complementary Purposes for Policy Research? Evidence from Accra, Dan Maxwell, January 1998
- **39** *Whose Education Matters in the Determination of Household Income: Evidence from a Developing Country,* Dean Jolliffe, November 1997
- **38** Systematic Client Consultation in Development: The Case of Food Policy Research in Ghana, India, Kenya, and Mali, Suresh Chandra Babu, Lynn R. Brown, and Bonnie McClafferty, November 1997
- 37 *Why Do Migrants Remit? An Analysis for the Dominican Sierra*, Bénédicte de la Brière, Alain de Janvry, Sylvie Lambert, and Elisabeth Sadoulet, October 1997
- 36 The GAPVU Cash Transfer Program in Mozambique: An assessment, Gaurav Datt, Ellen Payongayong, James L. Garrett, and Marie Ruel, October 1997
- 35 Market Access by Smallholder Farmers in Malawi: Implications for Technology Adoption, Agricultural Productivity, and Crop Income, Manfred Zeller, Aliou Diagne, and Charles Mataya, September 1997
- 34 The Impact of Changes in Common Property Resource Management on Intrahousehold Allocation, Philip Maggs and John Hoddinott, September 1997
- 33 Human Milk—An Invisible Food Resource, Anne Hatløy and Arne Oshaug, August 1997
- 32 *The Determinants of Demand for Micronutrients: An Analysis of Rural Households in Bangladesh*, Howarth E. Bouis and Mary Jane G. Novenario-Reese, August 1997

- **31** *Is There an Intrahousehold 'Flypaper Effect'? Evidence from a School Feeding Program*, Hanan Jacoby, August 1997
- **30** *Plant Breeding: A Long-Term Strategy for the Control of Zinc Deficiency in Vulnerable Populations*, Marie T. Ruel and Howarth E. Bouis, July 1997
- 29 *Gender, Property Rights, and Natural Resources*, Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Lynn R. Brown, Hilary Sims Feldstein, and Agnes R. Quisumbing, May 1997
- 28 Developing a Research and Action Agenda for Examining Urbanization and Caregiving: Examples from Southern and Eastern Africa, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, James L. Garrett, and Alison Slack, April 1997
- 27 "Bargaining" and Gender Relations: Within and Beyond the Household, Bina Agarwal, March 1997
- 26 Why Have Some Indian States Performed Better Than Others at Reducing Rural Poverty?, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, March 1997
- 25 Water, Health, and Income: A Review, John Hoddinott, February 1997
- 24 Child Care Practices Associated with Positive and Negative Nutritional Outcomes for Children in Bangladesh: A Descriptive Analysis, Shubh K. Kumar Range, Ruchira Naved, and Saroj Bhattarai, February 1997
- 23 Better Rich, or Better There? Grandparent Wealth, Coresidence, and Intrahousehold Allocation, Agnes R. Quisumbing, January 1997
- 22 Alternative Approaches to Locating the Food Insecure: Qualitative and Quantitative Evidence from South India, Kimberly Chung, Lawrence Haddad, Jayashree Ramakrishna, and Frank Riely, January 1997
- 21 *Livestock Income, Male/Female Animals, and Inequality in Rural Pakistan*, Richard H. Adams, Jr., November 1996
- 20 *Macroeconomic Crises and Poverty Monitoring: A Case Study for India*, Gaurav Datt and Martin Ravallion, November 1996
- 19 Food Security and Nutrition Implications of Intrahousehold Bias: A Review of Literature, Lawrence Haddad, Christine Peña, Chizuru Nishida, Agnes Quisumbing, and Alison Slack, September 1996
- 18 *Care and Nutrition: Concepts and Measurement*, Patrice L. Engle, Purnima Menon, and Lawrence Haddad, August 1996
- 17 Remittances, Income Distribution, and Rural Asset Accumulation, Richard H. Adams, Jr., August 1996
- 16 How Can Safety Nets Do More with Less? General Issues with Some Evidence from Southern Africa, Lawrence Haddad and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 15 *Repayment Performance in Group-Based credit Programs in Bangladesh: An Empirical Analysis*, Manohar Sharma and Manfred Zeller, July 1996
- 14 Demand for High-Value Secondary Crops in Developing Countries: The Case of Potatoes in Bangladesh and Pakistan, Howarth E. Bouis and Gregory Scott, May 1996
- 13 Determinants of Repayment Performance in Credit Groups: The Role of Program Design, Intra-Group Risk Pooling, and Social Cohesion in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, May 1996
- 12 *Child Development: Vulnerability and Resilience*, Patrice L. Engle, Sarah Castle, and Purnima Menon, April 1996
- 11 Rural Financial Policies for Food Security of the Poor: Methodologies for a Multicountry Research Project, Manfred Zeller, Akhter Ahmed, Suresh Babu, Sumiter Broca, Aliou Diagne, and Manohar Sharma, April 1996
- 10 *Women's Economic Advancement Through Agricultural Change: A Review of Donor Experience*, Christine Peña, Patrick Webb, and Lawrence Haddad, February 1996
- **09** *Gender and Poverty: New Evidence from 10 Developing Countries*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, Lawrence Haddad, and Christine Peña, December 1995

- **08** *Measuring Food Insecurity: The Frequency and Severity of "Coping Strategies,"* Daniel G. Maxwell, December 1995
- **07** *A Food Demand System Based on Demand for Characteristics: If There Is "Curvature" in the Slutsky Matrix, What Do the Curves Look Like and Why?*, Howarth E. Bouis, December 1995
- **06** *Gender Differentials in Farm Productivity: Implications for Household Efficiency and Agricultural Policy,* Harold Alderman, John Hoddinott, Lawrence Haddad, and Christopher Udry, August 1995
- **05** Gender Differences in Agricultural Productivity: A Survey of Empirical Evidence, Agnes R. Quisumbing, July 1995
- 04 Market Development and Food Demand in Rural China, Jikun Huang and Scott Rozelle, June 1995
- **03** The Extended Family and Intrahousehold Allocation: Inheritance and Investments in Children in the Rural *Philippines*, Agnes R. Quisumbing, March 1995
- **02** Determinants of Credit Rationing: A Study of Informal Lenders and Formal Credit Groups in Madagascar, Manfred Zeller, October 1994
- **01** Agricultural Technology and Food Policy to Combat Iron Deficiency in Developing Countries, Howarth E. Bouis, August 1994